Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

Peptides

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/peptides

Review Ghrelin acylation and metabolic control[☆]

O. Al Massadi, M.H. Tschöp*, J. Tong

Metabolic Diseases Institute, Division of Endocrinology, Department of Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 23 May 2011 Received in revised form 19 August 2011 Accepted 22 August 2011 Available online 27 August 2011

Keywords: Acyl ghrelin GOAT MCFAs Metabolism

ABSTRACT

Since its discovery, many physiologic functions have been ascribed to ghrelin, a gut derived hormone. The presence of a median fatty acid side chain on the ghrelin peptide is required for the binding and activation of the classical ghrelin receptor, the growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHSR)-1a. Ghrelin O-acyl transferase (GOAT) was recently discovered as the enzyme responsible for this acylation process. GOAT is expressed in all tissues that have been found to express ghrelin and has demonstrated actions on several complex endocrine organ systems such as the hypothalamus–pituitary–gonadal, insular and adrenal axis as well as the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, bone and gustatory system. Ghrelin acylation is dependent on the function of GOAT and the availability of substrates such as proghrelin and short- to medium-chain fatty acids (MCFAs). This process is governed by GOAT activity and has been shown to be modified by dietary lipids. In this review, we provided evidence that support an important role of GOAT in the regulation of energy homeostasis and glucose metabolism by modulating acyl ghrelin (AG) production. The relevance of GOAT and AG during periods of starvation remains to be defined. In addition, we summarized the recent literature on the metabolic effects of GOAT specific inhibitors and shared our view on the potential of targeting GOAT for the treatment of metabolic disorders such as obesity and type 2 diabetes.

© 2011 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

PEPTIDES

Contents

1.	Ghrelin				
2.	Ghrelin O-acyltransferase				
			es of GOAT	2302	
		2.1.1.	Desacylated ghrelin	2302	
		2.1.2.	Medium chain fatty acid (MCFA), medium chain triglyceride (MCT) and ghrelin acylation	2303	
	2.2. Tissue expression and specific regulation of GOAT			2303	
		2.2.1.	Gastrointestinal tract	2303	
		2.2.2.	Hypothalamic-pituitary axis	2303	
		2.2.3.	Pancreas	2303	
		2.2.4.	Reproductive system	2304	
		2.2.5.	Chondrocytes	2304	
		2.2.6.	Gustatory system	2304	
		2.2.7.	Systemic circulation	2304	
		2.2.8.	Factors that regulate GOAT expression	2304	
	2.3.	GOAT and the metabolic control		2304	
		2.3.1.	Nutritional status	2304	
		2.3.2.	Post-natal development	2304	
		2.3.3.	Body weight and lipid metabolism	2305	
		2.3.4.	Glucose metabolism	2305	

- * Corresponding author at: 2180 E Galbraith Road, Building D, Room 275,
- Cincinnati, OH 45237, USA. Tel.: +1 513 558 0433. E-mail address: tschoemh@ucmail.uc.edu (M.H. Tschöp).



^A *Funding*: MHT – DK077975, JT – 5K23DK80081-4, 1R03DK89090-01.

^{0196-9781/\$ -} see front matter © 2011 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2011.08.020

	2.4.	GOAT as a therapeutic target	2305
	2.4.1	GOAT analog and the metabolic control	2305
3.	Conclusions	-	2306
	References		2306

1. Ghrelin

Ghrelin was discovered in 1999 by Kojima and colleagues from extracts of rat gastric tissue as an endogenous ligand for the growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHSR)-1a. Ghre is the Proto-Indo-European root of the word 'grow' and relin means release, referring to the ability of ghrelin to enhance GH release [50]. Besides its potent stimulatory effect on GH secretion, ghrelin has also been shown to play a pivotal role in metabolism and energy balance [8,79,90,94]. Ghrelin regulates short-term energy homeostasis by increasing hunger and food intake. This action is thought to be mediated by the activation of hypothalamic neuropeptides NPY/Agrp neurons [22,78]. In addition, ghrelin has been implicated in long-term energy balance by promoting weight gain and adiposity [19,90,94]. Importantly, the ghrelin system is also actively involved in the regulation of glucose metabolism and insulin secretion as demonstrated in rodents and humans [13,14,58,86,87]. Moreover, a wide variety of effects such as modulating immune function [24], water balance [41], gastric emptying and gastric acid secretion [56], cell proliferation [5], memory [16], anxiety [10], sleep [97], energy expenditure [88], bone metabolism [55], reproductive function [15,89] and cardiovascular function [30] have been ascribed to ghrelin. Most of these physiologic functions associated with ghrelin are thought to be mediated by AG binding to the (GHSR)-1a. Desacylated ghrelin (DAG) does not bind to the classical ghrelin receptor. Its precise physiologic function has been questioned. However, (GHSR)-1a independent effects of AG and DAG have been described suggesting the existence of new undiscovered orphan receptors [40,91,93].

The main source of ghrelin in the organism is the stomach, where 65–90% of the circulating ghrelin is synthesized [7,27]. The second major producing organ for ghrelin is the small bowel. Small amounts of this peptide are also secreted in the lung, pancreas, hypothalamus, pituitary, breast, kidney, ovary, prostate, liver, testis, fat, placenta, adrenal gland, muscle, and heart, allowing for its diverse and complex hormonal function [35]. The ghrelin receptor is also widely expressed in rodents and humans. However, the highest expression of GHSR-1a is in the central nervous system (CNS), particularly the hypothalamus and pituitary gland, areas essential for ghrelin action on energy regulation and GH secretion [46].

The human ghrelin gene is located on chromosome 3 (3p25-26) with 4 exons and 3 introns. Several products of the ghrelin gene exist. Among them, the most relevant ones are obestatin, DAG and desglut-14 ghrelin. The ghrelin gene generates a pre-propeptide consists of 117 amino acids (AA) (pre-proghrelin), which after several modifications produces 'proghrelin' (1–94 AA). The pro-hormone convertase (PC) 1/3 is responsible for the formation of mature ghrelin through limited proteolytic cleavage at a single arginine [51,104]. As a co-product of ghrelin, obestatin was proposed by Zhang et al. to reduce food intake and body weight [102]. However, subsequent studies failed to reproduce these results and the physiological role of this hormone remains to be defined [17,63,77].

The post-translational acylation has been shown to occur independently of the proteolytic processing of the ghrelin peptide [104]. The hydroxyl group of serine-3 is acylated with an n-octanoic acid or another medium-chain fatty acid (MCFA). This ghrelin modification is entirely unique to ghrelin and is required to activate the ghrelin receptor, (GHSR)-1a [50]. The enzyme that is responsible of ghrelin acylation was identified by two independent groups and was named the ghrelin O-acyltransferase (GOAT) [39,100].

2. Ghrelin O-acyltransferase

GOAT is a porcupine-like enzyme that belongs to membranebound O-acyltransferases (MBOAT) superfamily [43], previously known as MBOAT4. The human GOAT gene is located on chromosome 8p12 with 3 exons of 13.02 kb extension. This gene produces a protein with 435 AA of which the Asp307 and His338 residues are essential for its function and have been conserved in other MBOAT family members [39,100]. GOAT, like ghrelin, is highly conserved across vertebrates from zebrafish to humans. Amino acid sequence assays that compare GOAT structure in different species revealed a 90% homology for human and rodent and 59% for mammalian and zebrafish. Additionally rodent and zebra fish GOAT can successfully acylate human ghrelin. These findings highlight the relevance of the highly conserved structure of GOAT and its functionality across species [39,100]. With regard to the enzymatic property, the optimal temperature for biochemical reactions is 37–50 °C whereas the enzymatic activity of GOAT is abolished at 60 $^{\circ}$ C. The optimal pH for maximal specific activity is at 7.0–7.5, in concordance with the physiological range in the human body [66,100]. The deacylation process in the organism is carried out by a recently identified and characterized acyl-protein thioesterase 1/lisophospholipase I released mainly from the liver and stimulated by bacterial lipopolysaccharide LPS [74]. Earlier work has also demonstrated that ghrelin is desacylated by carboxylesterase in rat serum and by butyrylcholinesterase in human serum, suggesting that this process is mediated by more than one esterase [23].

Both missense variants of unknown functional significance in the ghrelin gene [42,48,53,95] and loss of function mutations of the ghrelin receptor gene [44,47,67,68,96] have been described. However, the impact of these genetic variances on energy balance remains controversial given the limited phenotypic data available. In a recent report, a loss of function mutation of the GOAT gene has been linked to increased risk of anorexia nervosa in humans [60], indicating its potential relevance in clinical diseases.

2.1. Substrates of GOAT

2.1.1. Desacylated ghrelin

DAG has similar structure as AG but does not have the acyl group in the Ser-3 position [50]. Since the presence of the acyl group is necessary for the binding of ghrelin to GHSR-1a, DAG does not stimulate GH secretion [50] and has therefore been considered as an inactive peptide. Conversely, a variety of (GHSR)-1a independent effects of DAG have been reported: enhancing insulin secretion from insulin cell lines [38], stimulation of osteoblast growth [25] and spinal cord neuronal precursor cell proliferation [73], promotion of intracytoplasmatic lipid accumulation in human visceral adipocytes [70], suppression of isoproterenol-induced lipolysis in rat adipocytes [59], and inhibition of cell death in cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells [11]. Even though DAG does not stimulate GH secretion, the GH response to ghrelin administration is diminished in transgenic (Tg) mice that overexpress DAG. These mice are also smaller than the wild-type (WT) animals [6]. DAG has also shown both orexigenic and anorexigenic effects depending on the experimental conditions used [9,18,57,93]. It is generally accepted that DAG carries mainly anorexigenic properties mediated by an increase in cocaine–amphetamine-related transcript and urocortin expression in the paraventricular and arcuate nucleus in the hypothalamus [9]. Moreover, Tg mice that overexpress DAG have lower body weight and a slower lineal growth comparing to their WT littermates [6]. The effect of DAG on the GI tract has not been well studied but it seems to have opposite effects as AG. DAG does not affect gastric acid secretion [28,81] but has been shown to inhibit gastric emptying [9,18]. It has been speculated that a specific orphan receptor may be responsible for the (GHSR)-1a independent effects ascribed to DAG on the GI tract [91,93].

AG and DAG show a similar tissue distribution pattern. Both protein levels are most abundant in the gut, especially in the stomach tissue [45]. In gastric tissue, the ratio DAG:AG is 2:1 while the ratio has been reported higher in the systemic circulation [45,49]. Furthermore, the plasma AG:DAG can vary during different nutritional states such as fasting and feeding [45,49,84] depending on the method of sample processing used. Taken together, these observations suggest that the physiological function of ghrelin may be mediated by the control of ghrelin acylation.

2.1.2. Medium chain fatty acid (MCFA), medium chain triglyceride (MCT) and ghrelin acylation

Recently the emerging role of lipid sensing mechanism in the regulation of energy balance has come to focus [3,34,49,75]. An example of this regulation is that N-acylphosphatidylethanolamines (NAPE), a gut-derived circulating factor induced by fat ingestion, have been shown to inhibit food intake [34]. Similarly, oleylethanol amide (OEA), an endogenous lipid and a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha (PPAR- α) agonist that is released from the small intestines after fat infusion, was found to decrease meal frequency and inhibit food intake [75]. Recent *in vitro* data suggest that fats can directly modify gastric ghrelin secretion from isolated rat stomach [3]. Furthermore, evidence also suggests that not only ghrelin but also GOAT expression and activity are modified by dietary lipids, in particular by the availability of MCFA [49].

In natural foods, MCTs are found in milk, vegetable oils (coconut and palm), and butter, and have a unique chemistry structure to allow for easy digestion. Before GOAT was discovered, it had been reported that the ingestion of either MCFAs or MCTs increased the stomach concentrations of AG [62]. This finding was confirmed by subsequent studies indicating the importance of ingested MCFAs in ghrelin acylation. Mice that were fed a diet rich in glycerol triheptanoate, a MCT constituted heptanoic acid (C7:0) that is not synthesized *de novo*, were able to produce C7-AG. Interestingly, concentrations of C7-AG in stomach and blood in these mice were higher than C8-AG (the preferred MCFA by GOAT) than those fed a control diet [49]. Mice on the MCT diet also produced higher amounts of AG in blood than control mice on standard chow. Furthermore, the presence of MCT is necessary for a massive production of AG in Tg mice that overexpress ghrelin and GOAT in the liver, highlighting again the importance of MCT availability. Moreover, it has been shown that the acyl donor for the GOAT mediated ghrelin acylation is n-octanoyl Co-A, not n-octanoic acid or Co-A alone, and that n-octanoyl Co-A produces a negative feedback on AG production [101]. Notably GOAT can catalyze the acyl modification not only with an n-octanoyl group but also with different length acyl side chains to produces n-hexanoyl, n-heptanoyl and n-decanoyl ghrelin depending on the MCT substrate availability in the diet [62]. It has been reported that GOAT has a preference for n-hexanoyl Co-A over n-octanoyl-Co-A even when the amount of endogenous n-hexanoyl ghrelin is very low as compared to noctanoyl ghrelin in mouse [66].

Ghrelin acylation can be modified by nutritional status such as fasting and feeding and by dietary lipids. The availability of ghrelin and MCFAs are rate-limiting steps for the acylation process. A better understanding of the ghrelin acylation process can provide important knowledge on the role of ghrelin on short- and long-term energy regulation.

2.2. Tissue expression and specific regulation of GOAT

In addition to gastric tissue, the expression of GOAT has been described in many organ tissues at different levels depending on the species studied, namely duodenum, colon, pancreas, heart, kidney, muscle, tongue, testis, thymus, adipose tissue, adrenal gland, chondrocytes, pituitary, hypothalamus, placenta and ovary [4,31,36,37,39,65,71,72,80,83,100].

2.2.1. Gastrointestinal tract

Sakata et al. demonstrated that GOAT was localized within ghrelin producing cells in the stomach and duodenum of mice, proving information about the site of action for GOAT [72]. The pattern of ghrelin and GOAT expression have been found to be very similar in all tissues studied, however, the GOAT mRNA levels in the stomach are more than two- fold lower than ghrelin mRNA. Interestingly, it was estimated that about 15% of the GOAT expressing cells in the gastric mucosa did not coexpress ghrelin, suggesting the existence of other endogenous substrate for GOAT [72]. The ability of GOAT to acylate other substrates apart from ghrelin was suggested by others who found a subset of GOAT expressing cells in gastric mucosa (ECL cells) that were different from the ghrelin expressing cells (X/A cells) [83]. However, it is known that only a short amino acid sequence (e.g. 5 amino acids) with an unblocked amino terminal is sufficient to be recognized and acylated by GOAT [66,101]. Genome scans provide evidence that this 5 amino acid motif is only found in ghrelin. Therefore, it is likely that ghrelin is the only peptide that is acylated by GOAT.

2.2.2. Hypothalamic-pituitary axis

There is evidence that GOAT expression is regulated by GHRH, somatostatin (SST), and leptin in mouse primary pituitary cultured cells but not by IGF-1, NPY, insulin or DAG [31]. Interestingly, AG is able to increase GOAT expression via a positive autocrine feedback loop in the same culture system. In addition, a significant decrease in GOAT mRNA level in the pituitary, not in the hypothalamus, was observed in diet-induce-obesity (DIO) and *ob/ob* mice; an upregulation of GOAT mRNA was found after 24 h of fasting in the pituitary and after 48 h in the hypothalamus [31]. These findings raise the possibility of a tissue-specific regulation of GOAT in different models of obesity and states of energy balance. The biological relevance of this enzyme in the CNS may be related to its role in the coordination of neuroendocrine response to metabolic stress.

2.2.3. Pancreas

GOAT is expressed in pancreatic islets but without colocalization with insulin-producing cells [4]. Exposing INS-1 cells to insulin inhibits GOAT mRNA expression and protein levels. Importantly, insulin was found to inhibit the pancreatic transcription and translation of GOAT via the mTOR signaling pathway. Inhibition of mTOR signaling by rapamicyn dose- and time-dependently increases GOAT expression in INS-1 cells, while activation of mTOR by leucine decreases GOAT mRNA levels. Furthermore, the effect of insulin on GOAT expression in the pancreas can be seen also *in vivo*, consistent with the findings *in vitro*. The authors speculated that insulin might act as a repressor for AG production via a direct action on GOAT, providing a mechanism for the regulation of intra-islet ghrelin secretion [4].

2.2.4. Reproductive system

GOAT is expressed in the testes and ovaries. Protein and mRNA of GOAT have been detected in human myometrium of the uterus and is up-regulated during pregnancy [65]. Ghrelin may act as an orexigenic cue to maintain a positive energy balance during pregnancy and to ensure the metabolic needs of fetuses are met. Interestingly GOAT mRNA levels have been shown to be regulated by testosterone in isolated rat stomach [1].

2.2.5. Chondrocytes

Gomez et al. studied the influence of several hormonal and chemical stimuli on GOAT expression in cultured murine and human chondrogenic ATDC-5 and T/C-28a2 cell lines and showed that bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) treatment decreased GOAT expression. However, neither GH nor ghrelin regulates GOAT mRNA expression in these cell lines [36]. Future studies are needed to better understand the role of ghrelin/GOAT signaling on the skeletal system.

2.2.6. Gustatory system

Recently, GOAT was found to be present in the gustatory system, in taste buds of the mice tongue [80]. Using genetic mutant mouse models (ghrelin, GOAT and GHSR null mice), the researchers showed that taste responsiveness to salty and sour flavors was modulated by the ghrelin-GOAT system. These intriguing findings suggest that taste perception is linked to periphery energy balance and that the ghrelin/GOAT system may play a role in regulating chemosensing [3,80].

2.2.7. Systemic circulation

Activity and protein levels of GOAT in the circulation are difficult to measure because this enzyme is membrane bound. Recently, an antibody against an extracellular loop of the GOAT was developed [82]. Studies using this antibody suggest that GOAT is released into the plasma. However, the specificity of this antibody has not been tested in GOAT-deficient mice and requires further characterization. Until reliable and highly specific anti-GOAT antibodies are made, GOAT production can be estimated by measuring the GOAT gene *MBOAT4* mRNA level. Further, GOAT activity can be measured indirectly by quantifying the amounts of DAG and AG in tissues and in circulation.

2.2.8. Factors that regulate GOAT expression

An interrelationship between ghrelin/GOAT and the mammalian target of rapamicyn (mTOR), an intracellular fuel sensor that is critical for cellular energy homeostasis, has recently been described [21,26,99]. Inhibition of mTOR signaling leads to an increase in plasma ghrelin, gastric GOAT mRNA levels and food intake [99].

Based on the previously reported leptin regulation on the ghrelin system [64] and the well known antagonistic action of these hormones on food intake, some investigators studied the role of exogenously administered leptin on gastric GOAT mRNA levels in rodents under different experimental conditions [31,37]. Gonzalez et al. found a potent stimulation of GOAT mRNA expression with leptin treatment in 48 h food deprived rats, an effect that was not reproducible in fed conditions [37]. The authors speculated that the low levels of leptin in the fasting state might act as a repressor for GOAT. Gahete et al. also reported similar results in a mouse model of leptin deficiency (*ob/ob*) where leptin administration significantly increased gastric GOAT mRNA levels as compared to the pair-fed controls [31].

In addition to fasting and feeding, gastric GOAT expression is regulated in a rodent model that mimics most of the clinical symptoms of systemic infections induced by LPS [52,82]. LPS injection suppresses plasma GOAT levels and upregulates gastric GOAT protein levels but not its expression in rats. These effects are accompanied by an inhibition of AG and DAG in plasma by 53 and 28% respectively, resulting in a decreased AG/DAG level. This work raises the possibility of an extracellular acylation process of ghrelin and suggests that GOAT regulation by LPS could be responsible for some of the anorexic effect of systemic infection [82].

2.3. GOAT and the metabolic control

2.3.1. Nutritional status

Studies investigate the nutritional regulation of gastric GOAT expression have yielded conflicting results. Some studies in mice showed that the expression pattern of GOAT is similar to that of the ghrelin gene, with an increased expression after 24 h or 48 h of fasting and in states of negative energy balance, and a low expression in states of positive energy balance [31,99]. However, in another study in rats, GOAT expression was found to be unchanged after a 48 h of food deprivation [37]. Kirchner et al. also found that gastric GOAT expression is highest when mice were fed ad libitum and low after 12, 24, 36, and 48 h of fasting. The decreased GOAT expression is in parallel with the low AG concentration in blood during prolonged fasting [49]. In the state of chronic malnutrition, Gonzalez et al. found that GOAT expression in the gastric mucosa and plasma AG levels were significantly increased after 21 days of 70% food restriction in rats [37]. However, this finding is contradictory at least in part to the previous observation in Wistar rats where after 5 months of 35% dietary restriction, the levels of GOAT mRNA from the whole stomach were significantly decreased [69]. The differences in experimental conditions, the duration of fast, the amount of caloric restriction, and the site of tissue sample collection may be responsible for the discrepancy in the literature.

In humans, total ghrelin levels are high in patients with severe malnutrition or anorexia nervosa [61]. Similar to observations made in rodents, after a long term fasting of 62–64 h, AG remained low while DAG was at the peak preprandial levels in healthy subjects suggesting a separated regulation process for ghrelin secretion and acylation [54]. Taken together, observations made in rodents suggest that ghrelin acylation is influenced by food intake and the availability of fatty acids in the diet. Therefore, GOAT may function as a modifier for the adaptive response to feeding and fasting.

2.3.2. Post-natal development

Developmental changes of GOAT in different tissues have not been well studied. Gonzalez et al. studied the expression of gastric GOAT in 10, 25 and 60 day old male rats and failed to find any difference between these experimental groups [37]. Conversely, other groups have shown an age dependent increase in gastric GOAT mRNA levels parallel to body weight gain in both male and female rats that were 2, 4, 6 and 8 weeks of age. These changes in GOAT mRNA level correlate with AG secretion levels from gastric explants [1] and are in concordance with previous work revealing a 21-fold higher GOAT expression in 7-month old as compared to 5-week old rats [69]. In addition, GOAT expression has been reported to be higher in male than female rats that were both 8 weeks old. The earlier developmental maturation in females may be the explanation for the gender difference in GOAT mRNA expression. Conversely, breastfeeding suppresses gastric GOAT mRNA levels in male, but not in female, rat pups [1]. It has been proposed that GOAT may function as a defense of body weight during early development by modifying the ratio of AG/DAG ratio [1]. Further studies are needed to elucidate the role of GOAT in the regulation of energy homeostasis and other physiological functions during development in both genders.

2.3.3. Body weight and lipid metabolism

Several bodies of work provided evidence that the endogenous GOAT-ghrelin system plays a role in the control of energy balance and metabolism [1,4,12,37,49,99,103]. AG administration leads to increased food intake, body weight and fat accumulation. Similar to the ghrelin knockout [ghrelin(-/-)] mice, GOAT(-/-) mice on a chow diet have normal body weight, fat mass, food intake, fat free mass and body length as WT that are on a standard chow diet [49,85,98,103]. The lack of body weight and growth phenotype is probably due to the developmental compensation in the mutant mouse model. However, an improved glucose tolerance and diet induced obesity resistance phenotype was observed in the ghrelin(-/-) mice [98,105].

To dissect the role of GOAT in metabolic control and energy balance, Kirchner et al. studied the phenotype of GOAT(-/-) mice fed a high fat diet (58% of calories from fat). In the absence of AG, these mice had lower body weight but similar body composition compared to the WT [49]. To test the hypothesis whether GOAT activity depends on the diet composition and specifically on the amount of MCFAs, they fed the GOAT(-/-) mice a diet that contained 10% of calories from glyceryl trioctanoate and glyceryl tridecanoate, MCT constituted for octanoic (C:8) and decanoic (C:10) acids respectively [49,62]. On this diet, the GOAT(-/-) mice had lower body weight and lower fat mass than the WT controls. Interestingly, this difference was due to higher energy expenditure instead of a result of decreased food intake. To uncover the physiological function of this enzyme, Tg mice that overexpress ghrelin and GOAT in the liver were generated and they have high levels of DAG in the circulation but lack the octanoyl-modified form of ghrelin. This is probably due to the lack of MCFAs in the liver under normal dietary conditions. When a triglyceryl octanoate diet was fed to these animals, their circulating concentration of AG significantly increased accompanied by a higher body weight and fat mass in contrast to the WT controls, reinforcing the importance of diet composition on ghrelin acylation. Furthermore, food intake did not differ between WT and Tg mice, but energy expenditure was significantly lower during both the dark and light phase in the Tg mice. These data indicates that Tg mice oxidize less fat than the WT. Interestingly the overexpression of human ghrelin in this mouse model is inducible and reversible by specific diets [49].

In summary, the available evidence suggests that GOAT is involved in the regulation of energy balance and its activity is influenced by the availability and composition of dietary fatty acids. The effect of GOAT is accomplished by modulating the process of ghrelin acylation, i.e. AG production. The ghrelin system is involved in meal preparation to optimize energy storage and may serve as a lipid sensor to signal the brain for the abundance of calories rather than functioning as a meal initiation signal as previous thought [29,49,76].

2.3.4. Glucose metabolism

Like ghrelin, GOAT is expressed in rat and human islets and has been implicated in the regulation of glucose metabolism and insulin secretion [12]. In addition to GHSR-1a, the intra-islet GOAT system may play a role in mediating the effect of ghrelin on insulin secretion. Insulin has been shown to inhibit GOAT mRNA and protein expression in INS-1 cells via the mediation of mTOR signaling [4]. Intriguingly, islets isolated from mice and humans treated with a GOAT inhibitor showed an enhanced glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and a reduction in blood glucose. This was accompanied by a 20-fold decrease in uncoupling protein (UCP)-2 mRNA level [12]. AG has been shown to suppress insulin secretion and impair glucose tolerance in both rodents and humans [86,87,92] whereas DAG has been shown to have opposing effects of AG on glucose tolerance, insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity in rodents and even in humans [32,33]. The metabolic phenotype of GOAT(-/-) mice that lack AG appears to be dependent on nutritional states. GOAT(-/-) mice that were subjected to a 6-h fast showed normal glucose tolerance [49]. However, after a 16-h fast, these mice demonstrated improved glucose tolerance and increased insulin secretion [103]. Furthermore, when the GOAT(-/-) mice was subjected to a 60% caloric restriction, they developed severe hypoglycemia and were morbid bound after 7 days when their body fat was down to 2% while the WT animals were able to maintain their blood glucose. The inadequate GH secretion in the GOAT(-/-) mice was thought to be the explanation for their inability in preserving blood glucose. Infusion of either ghrelin or GH normalized blood glucose in GOAT(-/-) mice and prevented death [103]. This finding indicates a potentially important protective role of endogenous ghrelin against hypoglycemia in the state of severe energy deficiency. More studies are needed to confirm these findings.

In summary, the role of endogenous ghrelin in the control of glucose homeostasis, while potentially one of the hormone's most exciting ones, remains controversial and mechanistically poorly understood. A proposed role in protection from hypoglycaemia during severe caloric deprivation remains to be confirmed.

2.4. GOAT as a therapeutic target

Metabolic disorders such as obesity and type 2 diabetes are major public health threats. Given the known effect of ghrelin on appetite stimulation, fat accumulation and glucose homeostasis, it is logical to speculate that ghrelin receptor antagonism would be beneficial for metabolism. However, there are some disadvantages associated with this approach. First, antagonizing its action might increase AG levels and thus change the AG/DAG ratios with the subsequent repercussions; second, the main ghrelin site action is the brain so the putative drug based in ghrelin antagonism should had a lipid moiety to cross the BBB decreasing the drug bioavailability and third, ghrelin acts on several complex endocrine axis and ghrelin mimetics and (GHSR)-1a antagonists could introduce multiple unwanted side effects. Furthermore, several of the physiologic functions of ghrelin occur in the CNS thus targeting GOAT instead of the ghrelin receptor could avoid possible CNS side effects as previously seen with other anti-obesity drugs [2,20]. Therefore, GOAT inhibition is considered to be the most promising therapeutic target in the ghrelin system for modulating body weight and glucose control to date.

2.4.1. GOAT analog and the metabolic control

A GOAT specific inhibitor, bisubstrate analog GO-CoA-Tat, has recently been developed. This analog is composed by three elements: ghrelin and octanoyl Co-A (substrates for GOAT) binding with a non cleavable bridge and a third piece namely Tat sequences that allow penetrate the analog within the cell where ghrelin octanoylation take place [12]. This analog bisubstrate inhibits AG but not DAG *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In GOAT/preproghrelin transfected HeLa cells the maximum inhibition is at 24 h of incubation, suggesting that ghrelin exists in pre-existing reservoirs within the cell. *In vivo* the maximum efficiency of AG inhibition is after 6 h of intraperitoneally injection in wild types animals on a MCT diet [12].

Chronic GO-Co-A-Tat treatment in mice prevented weight gain as observed in vehicle treated mice on a MCT-rich high fat diet. Moreover, the GO-CoA-Tat treated animals displayed significant lower fat mass but not lean mass. They also displayed lower blood glucose as well as lower levels of insulin-like growth factor 1, which is consistent with the effect of endogenous AG in modulating the somatotropic axis. GO-CoA-Tat did not significantly alter body weight, fat or lean mass in GOAT(-/-) mice in comparison to WT mice [12]. This analog has an impact on glucose tolerance and insulin secretion *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Mice pretreated with the GOAT analog displayed a significant increase in insulin secretion and a blood glucose reduction that were not seen in the GOAT(-/-) mice. These results support the hypothesis that GO-CoA-Tat regulates glucose metabolism through AG inhibition. An enhanced insulin secretion was also observed in human pancreatic islets cells pretreated with the analog [12].

3. Conclusions

The recent discovery of GOAT along with the multiple and pleiotropic roles played by several AG/DAG isoforms of ghrelin not only meant a significant step forward in endocrinology, obesity and potentially diabetes research, but also opened up new and exciting ways to dissect the molecular underpinnings of novel ghrelin actions. Recent experimental evidence suggests a relevant role of DAG, although currently unknown, as indicated by the high levels of this hormone versus AG in normal conditions and especially in GOAT knockout mice. Other point to take into account is the possible existence of other possible unknown receptors for ghrelin as suggested by some studies with DAG and some with AG. As mentioned above, the advances in basic ghrelin research have improved our understanding of body weight regulation and are generating new approaches for controlling specific diseases. GOAT could be a suitable target within the ghrelin system with some advantages over targeting the ghrelin receptor. Ghrelin has two characteristics which have attracted a considerable research community: (A) it is a unique peptide that undergoes a posttranslational modification with an octanoic acid being added and (B) it is the only potently orexigenic peripheral hormone known to date. Thus targeting GOAT or enzymes relevant for the deacylation process could be a promising strategy for the development of future therapeutics. Improved insight into ghrelin and GOAT physiology is furthermore an important requirement, which could lead to additional pharmacological opportunities. It for example remains an open question if ghrelin can be acylated in cells outside the stomach or the duodenum or to which extent GOAT may be able to utilize endogenous fatty acid as substrates during food deprivation. Additional genetically modified animal models and new technology to manipulate gene expression in vivo in adult animals will help to reach a more complete understanding of the GOAT/ghrelin system in metabolic control.

References

- Al-Massadi O, Crujeiras AB, Gonzalez RC, Pardo M, Dieguez C, Casanueva FF, et al. Age, sex, and lactating status regulate ghrelin secretion and GOAT mRNA levels from isolated rat stomach. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2010;299:E341–50.
- [2] Al-Massadi O, Gabellieri E, Trujillo ML, Senaris R, Pagotto U, Pasquali R, et al. Peripheral endocannabinoid system-mediated actions of rimonabant on growth hormone secretion are ghrelin-dependent. J Neuroendocrinol 2010;22:1127–36.
- [3] Al Massadi O, Pardo M, Roca-Rivada A, Castelao C, Casanueva FF, Seoane LM. Macronutrients act directly on the stomach to regulate gastric ghrelin release. J Endocrinol Invest 2010;33:599–602.
- [4] An W, Li Y, Xu G, Zhao J, Xiang X, Ding L, et al. Modulation of ghrelin O-acyltransferase expression in pancreatic islets. Cell Physiol Biochem 2010;26:707–16.
- [5] Andreis PG, Malendowicz LK, Trejter M, Neri G, Spinazzi R, Rossi GP, et al. Ghrelin and growth hormone secretagogue receptor are expressed in the rat adrenal cortex: evidence that ghrelin stimulates the growth, but not the secretory activity of adrenal cells. FEBS Lett 2003;536:173–9.
- [6] Ariyasu H, Takaya K, Iwakura H, Hosoda H, Akamizu T, Arai Y, et al. Transgenic mice overexpressing des-acyl ghrelin show small phenotype. Endocrinology 2005;146:355–64.
- [7] Ariyasu H, Takaya K, Tagami T, Ogawa Y, Hosoda K, Akamizu T, et al. Stomach is a major source of circulating ghrelin, and feeding state determines plasma ghrelin-like immunoreactivity levels in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86:4753–8.

- [8] Arvat E, Maccario M, Di Vito L, Broglio F, Benso A, Gottero C, et al. Endocrine activities of ghrelin, a natural growth hormone secretagogue (GHS), in humans: comparison and interactions with hexarelin, a nonnatural peptidyl GHS, and GH-releasing hormone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86:1169–74.
- [9] Asakawa A, Inui A, Fujimiya M, Sakamaki R, Shinfuku N, Ueta Y, et al. Stomach regulates energy balance via acylated ghrelin and desacyl ghrelin. Gut 2005;54:18–24.
- [10] Asakawa A, Inui A, Kaga T, Yuzuriha H, Nagata T, Fujimiya M, et al. A role of ghrelin in neuroendocrine and behavioral responses to stress in mice. Neuroendocrinology 2001;74:143–7.
- [11] Baldanzi G, Filigheddu N, Cutrupi S, Catapano F, Bonissoni S, Fubini A, et al. Ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin inhibit cell death in cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells through ERK1/2 and PI 3-kinase/AKT. J Cell Biol 2002;159:1029–37.
- [12] Barnett BP, Hwang Y, Taylor MS, Kirchner H, Pfluger PT, Bernard V, et al. Glucose and weight control in mice with a designed ghrelin O-acyltransferase inhibitor. Science 2010;330:1689–92.
- [13] Broglio F, Benso A, Gottero C, Prodam F, Grottoli S, Tassone F, et al. Effects of glucose, free fatty acids or arginine load on the GH-releasing activity of ghrelin in humans. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2002;57:265–71.
- [14] Broglio F, Gottero C, Benso A, Prodam F, Destefanis S, Gauna C, et al. Effects of ghrelin on the insulin and glycemic responses to glucose, arginine, or free fatty acids load in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003;88:4268–72.
- [15] Caminos JE, Tena-Sempere M, Gaytan F, Sanchez-Criado JE, Barreiro ML, Nogueiras R, et al. Expression of ghrelin in the cyclic and pregnant rat ovary. Endocrinology 2003;144:1594–602.
- [16] Carlini VP, Monzon ME, Varas MM, Cragnolini AB, Schioth HB, Scimonelli TN, et al. Ghrelin increases anxiety-like behavior and memory retention in rats. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002;299:739–43.
- [17] Chartrel N, Alvear-Perez R, Leprince J, Iturrioz X, Reaux-Le Goazigo A, Audinot V, et al. Comment on Obestatin, a peptide encoded by the ghrelin gene, opposes ghrelin's effects on food intake. Science 2007;315:766 [author reply].
- [18] Chen CY, Chao Y, Chang FY, Chien EJ, Lee SD, Doong ML. Intracisternal des-acyl ghrelin inhibits food intake and non-nutrient gastric emptying in conscious rats. Int J Mol Med 2005;16:695–9.
- [19] Choi K, Roh SG, Hong YH, Shrestha YB, Hishikawa D, Chen C, et al. The role of ghrelin and growth hormone secretagogues receptor on rat adipogenesis. Endocrinology 2003;144:754–9.
- [20] Christensen R, Kristensen PK, Bartels EM, Bliddal H, Astrup A. Efficacy and safety of the weight-loss drug rimonabant: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet 2007;370:1706–13.
- [21] Cota D, Proulx K, Smith KA, Kozma SC, Thomas G, Woods SC, et al. Hypothalamic mTOR signaling regulates food intake. Science 2006;312:927–30.
- [22] Cowley MA, Smith RG, Diano S, Tschop M, Pronchuk N, Grove KL, et al. The distribution and mechanism of action of ghrelin in the CNS demonstrates a novel hypothalamic circuit regulating energy homeostasis. Neuron 2003;37:649–61.
- [23] De Vriese C, Gregoire F, Lema-Kisoka R, Waelbroeck M, Robberecht P, Delporte C. Ghrelin degradation by serum and tissue homogenates: identification of the cleavage sites. Endocrinology 2004;145:4997–5005.
- [24] De Winter BY, De Man JG. Interplay between inflammation, immune system and neuronal pathways: effect on gastrointestinal motility. World J Gastroenterol 2010;16:5523–35.
- [25] Delhanty PJ, van der Eerden BC, van der Velde M, Gauna C, Pols HA, Jahr H, et al. Ghrelin and unacylated ghrelin stimulate human osteoblast growth via mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) pathways in the absence of GHS-R1a. J Endocrinol 2006;188:37–47.
- [26] Dennis PB, Jaeschke A, Saitoh M, Fowler B, Kozma SC, Thomas G, et al. Science 2001;294:1102–5.
- [27] Dornonville de la Cour C, Bjorkqvist M, Sandvik AK, Bakke I, Zhao CM, Chen D, et al. A-like cells in the rat stomach contain ghrelin and do not operate under gastrin control. Regul Pept 2001;99:141–50.
- [28] Dornonville de la Cour C, Lindstrom E, Norlen P, Hakanson R. Ghrelin stimulates gastric emptying but is without effect on acid secretion and gastric endocrine cells. Regul Pept 2004;120:23–32.
- [29] Drazen DL, Vahl TP, D'Alessio DA, Seeley RJ, Woods SC. Effects of a fixed meal pattern on ghrelin secretion: evidence for a learned response independent of nutrient status. Endocrinology 2006;147:23–30.
- [30] Enomoto M, Nagaya N, Uematsu M, Okumura H, Nakagawa E, Ono F, et al. Cardiovascular and hormonal effects of subcutaneous administration of ghrelin, a novel growth hormone-releasing peptide, in healthy humans. Clin Sci (Lond) 2003;105:431–5.
- [31] Gahete MD, Cordoba-Chacon J, Salvatori R, Castano JP, Kineman RD, Luque RM. Metabolic regulation of ghrelin O-acyl transferase (GOAT) expression in the mouse hypothalamus, pituitary, and stomach. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2010;317:154–60.
- [32] Gauna C, Kiewiet RM, Janssen JA, van de Zande B, Delhanty PJ, Ghigo E, et al. Unacylated ghrelin acts as a potent insulin secretagogue in glucosestimulated conditions. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2007;293:E697–704.
- [33] Gauna C, Meyler FM, Janssen JA, Delhanty PJ, Abribat T, van Koetsveld P, et al. Administration of acylated ghrelin reduces insulin sensitivity, whereas the combination of acylated plus unacylated ghrelin strongly improves insulin sensitivity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:5035–42.
- [34] Gillum MP, Zhang D, Zhang XM, Erion DM, Jamison RA, Choi C, et al. Nacylphosphatidylethanolamine, a gut-derived circulating factor induced by fat ingestion, inhibits food intake. Cell 2008;135:813–24.

- [35] Gnanapavan S, Kola B, Bustin SA, Morris DG, McGee P, Fairclough P, et al. The tissue distribution of the mRNA of ghrelin and subtypes of its receptor, GHS-R, in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002;87:2988.
- [36] Gomez R, Lago F, Gomez-Reino JJ, Dieguez C, Gualillo O. Expression and modulation of ghrelin O-acyltransferase in cultured chondrocytes. Arthritis Rheum 2009;60:1704–9.
- [37] Gonzalez CR, Vazquez MJ, Lopez M, Dieguez C. Influence of chronic undernutrition and leptin on GOAT mRNA levels in rat stomach mucosa. J Mol Endocrinol 2008;41:415–21.
- [38] Granata R, Settanni F, Biancone L, Trovato L, Nano R, Bertuzzi F, et al. Acylated and unacylated ghrelin promote proliferation and inhibit apoptosis of pancreatic beta-cells and human islets: involvement of 3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate/protein kinase A, extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2, and phosphatidyl inositol 3-kinase/Akt signaling. Endocrinology 2007;148:512–29.
- [39] Gutierrez JA, Solenberg PJ, Perkins DR, Willency JA, Knierman MD, Jin Z, et al. Ghrelin octanoylation mediated by an orphan lipid transferase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:6320–5.
- [40] Halem HA, Taylor JE, Dong JZ, Shen Y, Datta R, Abizaid A, et al. A novel growth hormone secretagogue-1a receptor antagonist that blocks ghrelin-induced growth hormone secretion but induces increased body weight gain. Neuroendocrinology 2005;81:339–49.
- [41] Hashimoto H, Fujihara H, Kawasaki M, Saito T, Shibata M, Otsubo H, et al. Centrally and peripherally administered ghrelin potently inhibits water intake in rats. Endocrinology 2007;148:1638–47.
- [42] Hinney A, Hoch A, Geller F, Schafer H, Siegfried W, Goldschmidt H, et al. Ghrelin gene: identification of missense variants and a frameshift mutation in extremely obese children and adolescents and healthy normal weight students. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002;87:2716.
- [43] Hofmann K. A superfamily of membrane-bound O-acyltransferases with implications for wnt signaling. Trends Biochem Sci 2000;25:111–2.
- [44] Holst B, Schwartz TW. Ghrelin receptor mutations—too little height and too much hunger. | Clin Invest 2006;116:637–41.
- [45] Hosoda H, Kojima M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K. Ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin: two major forms of rat ghrelin peptide in gastrointestinal tissue. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000;279:909–13.
- [46] Howard AD, Feighner SD, Cully DF, Arena JP, Liberator PA, Rosenblum CI, et al. A receptor in pituitary and hypothalamus that functions in growth hormone release. Science 1996;273:974–7.
- [47] Inoue H, Kangawa N, Kinouchi A, Sakamoto Y, Kimura C, Horikawa R, et al. Identification and functional analysis of novel human growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHSR) gene mutations in Japanese subjects with short stature. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96:E373–8.
- [48] Kim SY, Jo DS, Hwang PH, Park JH, Park SK, Yi HK, et al. Preproghrelin Leu72Met polymorphism is not associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Metabolism 2006;55:366–70.
- [49] Kirchner H, Gutierrez JA, Solenberg PJ, Pfluger PT, Czyzyk TA, Willency JA, et al. GOAT links dietary lipids with the endocrine control of energy balance. Nat Med 2009;15:741–5.
- [50] Kojima M, Hosoda H, Date Y, Nakazato M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K. Ghrelin is a growth-hormone-releasing acylated peptide from stomach. Nature 1999;402:656–60.
- [51] Kojima M, Kangawa K. Ghrelin: structure and function. Physiol Rev 2005;85:495–522.
- [52] Langhans W. Bacterial products and the control of ingestive behavior: clinical implications. Nutrition 1996;12:303–15.
- [53] Lee DY, Kim SY, Jo DS, Hwang PH, Kang KP, Lee S, et al. Preproghrelin Leu72Met polymorphism predicts a lower rate of developing renal dysfunction in type 2 diabetic nephropathy. Eur J Endocrinol 2006;155:187–90.
- [54] Liu J, Prudom C, Nass R, Pezzoli SS, Oliveri MC, Johnson ML, et al. Ghrelin assays provide evidence for independent regulation of ghrelin acylation and secretion in healthy young men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008; 200:8.
- [55] Maccarinelli G, Sibilia V, Torsello A, Raimondo F, Pitto M, Giustina A, et al. Ghrelin regulates proliferation and differentiation of osteoblastic cells. J Endocrinol 2005;184:249–56.
- [56] Masuda Y, Tanaka T, Inomata N, Ohnuma N, Tanaka S, Itoh Z, et al. Ghrelin stimulates gastric acid secretion and motility in rats. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000;276:905–8.
- [57] Matsuda K, Miura T, Kaiya H, Maruyama K, Shimakura S, Uchiyama M, et al. Regulation of food intake by acyl and des-acyl ghrelins in the goldfish. Peptides 2006;27:2321–5.
- [58] McLaughlin T, Abbasi F, Lamendola C, Frayo RS, Cummings DE. Plasma ghrelin concentrations are decreased in insulin-resistant obese adults relative to equally obese insulin-sensitive controls. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:1630–5.
- [59] Muccioli G, Pons N, Ghe C, Catapano F, Granata R, Ghigo E. Ghrelin and desacyl ghrelin both inhibit isoproterenol-induced lipolysis in rat adipocytes via a non-type 1a growth hormone secretagogue receptor. Eur J Pharmacol 2004;498:27–35.
- [60] Müller TD, Tschöp MH, Jarick I, Ehrlich S, Scherag S, Herpertz-Dahlmann B, et al. Genetic variation of the ghrelin activator gene ghrelin O-acyltransferase (GOAT) is associated with anorexia nervosa. J Psychiatr Res 2011;45:706–11.
- [61] Nakai Y, Hosoda H, Nin K, Ooya C, Hayashi H, Akamizu T, et al. Plasma levels of active form of ghrelin during oral glucose tolerance test in patients with anorexia nervosa. Eur J Endocrinol 2003;149:R1–3.

- [62] Nishi Y, Hiejima H, Hosoda H, Kaiya H, Mori K, Fukue Y, et al. Ingested mediumchain fatty acids are directly utilized for the acyl modification of ghrelin. Endocrinology 2005;146:2255–64.
- [63] Nogueiras R, Pfluger P, Tovar S, Arnold M, Mitchell S, Morris A, et al. Effects of obestatin on energy balance and growth hormone secretion in rodents. Endocrinology 2007;148:21–6.
- [64] Nogueiras R, Tovar S, Mitchell SE, Rayner DV, Archer ZA, Dieguez C, et al. Regulation of growth hormone secretagogue receptor gene expression in the arcuate nuclei of the rat by leptin and ghrelin. Diabetes 2004;53:2552–8.
- [65] O'Brien M, Earley P, Morrison JJ, Smith TJ. Ghrelin in the human myometrium. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2010;8:55.
- [66] Ohgusu H, Shirouzu K, Nakamura Y, Nakashima Y, Ida T, Sato T, et al. Ghrelin Oacyltransferase (GOAT) has a preference for n-hexanoyl-CoA over n-octanoyl-CoA as an acyl donor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2009;386:153–8.
- [67] Pantel J, Legendre M, Cabrol S, Hilal L, Hajaji Y, Morisset S, et al. Loss of constitutive activity of the growth hormone secretagogue receptor in familial short stature. J Clin Invest 2006;116:760–8.
- [68] Pantel J, Legendre M, Nivot S, Morisset S, Vie-Luton MP, le Bouc Y, et al. Recessive isolated growth hormone deficiency and mutations in the ghrelin receptor. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009;94:4334–41.
- [69] Reimer RA, Maurer AD, Lau DC, Auer RN. Long-term dietary restriction influences plasma ghrelin and GOAT mRNA level in rats. Physiol Behav 2010;99:605–10.
- [70] Rodriguez A, Gomez-Ambrosi J, Catalan V, Gil MJ, Becerril S, Sainz N, et al. Acylated and desacyl ghrelin stimulate lipid accumulation in human visceral adipocytes. Int J Obes (Lond) 2009;33:541–52.
- [71] Rucinski M, Ziolkowska A, Tyczewska M, Malendowicz LK. Expression of prepro-ghrelin and related receptor genes in the rat adrenal gland and evidences that ghrelin exerts a potent stimulating effect on corticosterone secretion by cultured rat adrenocortical cells. Peptides 2009;30: 1448–55.
- [72] Sakata I, Yang J, Lee CE, Osborne-Lawrence S, Rovinsky SA, Elmquist JK, et al. Colocalization of ghrelin O-acyltransferase and ghrelin in gastric mucosal cells. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2009;297:E134–41.
- [73] Sato M, Nakahara K, Goto S, Kaiya H, Miyazato M, Date Y, et al. Effects of ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin on neurogenesis of the rat fetal spinal cord. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006;350:598–603.
- [74] Satou M, Nishi Y, Yoh J, Hattori Y, Sugimoto H. Identification and characterization of acyl-protein thioesterase 1/lysophospholipase I as a ghrelin deacylation/lysophospholipid hydrolyzing enzyme in fetal bovine serum and conditioned medium. Endocrinology 2010;151:4765–75.
- [75] Schwartz GJ, Fu J, Astarita G, Li X, Gaetani S, Campolongo P, et al. The lipid messenger OEA links dietary fat intake to satiety. Cell Metab 2008;8:281–8.
- [76] Seoane LM, Al-Massadi O, Caminos JE, Tovar SA, Dieguez C, Casanueva FF. Sensory stimuli directly acting at the central nervous system regulate gastric ghrelin secretion. An ex vivo organ culture study. Endocrinology 2007;148:3998–4006.
- [77] Seoane LM, Al-Massadi O, Pazos Y, Pagotto U, Casanueva FF. Central obestatin administration does not modify either spontaneous or ghrelin-induced food intake in rats. J Endocrinol Invest 2006;29:RC13–5.
- [78] Seoane LM, Lopez M, Tovar S, Casanueva FF, Senaris R, Dieguez C. Agoutirelated peptide, neuropeptide Y, and somatostatin-producing neurons are targets for ghrelin actions in the rat hypothalamus. Endocrinology 2003;144:544–51.
- [79] Seoane LM, Tovar S, Baldelli R, Arvat E, Ghigo E, Casanueva FF, et al. Ghrelin elicits a marked stimulatory effect on GH secretion in freely-moving rats. Eur J Endocrinol 2000;143:R7–9.
- [80] Shin YK, Martin B, Kim W, White CM, Ji S, Sun Y, et al. Ghrelin is produced in taste cells and ghrelin receptor null mice show reduced taste responsivity to salty (NaCl) and sour (citric acid) tastants. PLoS ONE 2010;5:e12729.
- [81] Sibilia V, Muccioli G, Deghenghi R, Pagani F, De Luca V, Rapetti D, et al. Evidence for a role of the GHS-R1a receptors in ghrelin inhibition of gastric acid secretion in the rat. J Neuroendocrinol 2006;18:122–8.
- [82] Stengel A, Goebel M, Wang L, Reeve Jr JR, Taché Y, Lambrecht NW. Lipopolysaccharide differentially decreases plasma acyl and desacyl ghrelin levels in rats: potential role of the circulating ghrelin-acylating enzyme GOAT. Peptides 2010;31:1689–96.
- [83] Stengel A, Goebel M, Wang L, Tache Y, Sachs G, Lambrecht NW. Differential distribution of ghrelin-O-acyltransferase (GOAT) immunoreactive cells in the mouse and rat gastric oxyntic mucosa. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2010;392:67–71.
- [84] Stengel A, Keire D, Goebel M, Evilevitch L, Wiggins B, Tache Y, et al. The RAPID method for blood processing yields new insight in plasma concentrations and molecular forms of circulating gut peptides. Endocrinology 2009;150:5113–8.
- [85] Sun Y, Ahmed S, Smith RG. Deletion of ghrelin impairs neither growth nor appetite. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:7973–81.
- [86] Sun Y, Asnicar M, Saha PK, Chan L, Smith RG. Ablation of ghrelin improves the diabetic but not obese phenotype of ob/ob mice. Cell Metab 2006;3: 379–86.
- [87] Sun Y, Asnicar M, Smith RG. Central and peripheral roles of ghrelin on glucose homeostasis. Neuroendocrinology 2007;86:215–28.
- [88] Tang-Christensen M, Vrang N, Ortmann S, Bidlingmaier M, Horvath TL, Tschop M. Central administration of ghrelin and agouti-related protein (83–132) increases food intake and decreases spontaneous locomotor activity in rats. Endocrinology 2004;145:4645–52.

- [89] Tena-Sempere M, Barreiro ML, Gonzalez LC, Gaytan F, Zhang FP, Caminos JE, et al. Novel expression and functional role of ghrelin in rat testis. Endocrinology 2002;143:717–25.
- [90] Theander-Carrillo C, Wiedmer P, Cettour-Rose P, Nogueiras R, Perez-Tilve D, Pfluger P, et al. Ghrelin action in the brain controls adipocyte metabolism. J Clin Invest 2006;116:1983–93.
- [91] Thompson NM, Gill DA, Davies R, Loveridge N, Houston PA, Robinson IC, et al. Ghrelin and des-octanoyl ghrelin promote adipogenesis directly in vivo by a mechanism independent of the type 1a growth hormone secretagogue receptor. Endocrinology 2004;145:234–42.
- [92] Tong J, Prigeon RL, Davis HW, Bidlingmaier M, Kahn SE, Cummings DE, et al. Ghrelin suppresses glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and deteriorates glucose tolerance in healthy humans. Diabetes 2010;59:2145–51.
- [93] Toshinai K, Yamaguchi H, Sun Y, Smith RG, Yamanaka A, Sakurai T, et al. Des-acyl ghrelin induces food intake by a mechanism independent of the growth hormone secretagogue receptor. Endocrinology 2006;147: 2306–14.
- [94] Tschop M, Smiley DL, Heiman ML. Ghrelin induces adiposity in rodents. Nature 2000;407:908–13.
- [95] Ukkola O, Ravussin E, Jacobson P, Snyder EE, Chagnon M, Sjostrom L, et al. Mutations in the preproghrelin/ghrelin gene associated with obesity in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86:3996–9.
- [96] Wang HJ, Geller F, Dempfle A, Schauble N, Friedel S, Lichtner P, et al. Ghrelin receptor gene: identification of several sequence variants in extremely obese children and adolescents, healthy normal-weight and underweight students, and children with short normal stature. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:157–62.

- [97] Weikel JC, Wichniak A, Ising M, Brunner H, Friess E, Held K, et al. Ghrelin promotes slow-wave sleep in humans. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2003;284:E407–15.
- [98] Wortley KE, del Rincon JP, Murray JD, Garcia K, lida K, Thorner MO, et al. Absence of ghrelin protects against early-onset obesity. J Clin Invest 2005;115:3573–8.
- [99] Xu G, Li Y, An W, Li S, Guan Y, Wang N, et al. Gastric mammalian target of rapamycin signaling regulates ghrelin production and food intake. Endocrinology 2009;150:3637–44.
- [100] Yang J, Brown MS, Liang G, Grishin NV, Goldstein JL. Identification of the acyltransferase that octanoylates ghrelin, an appetite-stimulating peptide hormone. Cell 2008;132:387–96.
- [101] Yang J, Zhao TJ, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Inhibition of ghrelin Oacyltransferase (GOAT) by octanoylated pentapeptides. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:10750–5.
- [102] Zhang JV, Ren PG, Avsian-Kretchmer O, Luo CW, Rauch R, Klein C, et al. Obestatin, a peptide encoded by the ghrelin gene, opposes ghrelin's effects on food intake. Science 2005;310:996–9.
- [103] Zhao TJ, Liang G, Li RL, Xie X, Sleeman MW, Murphy AJ, et al. Ghrelin O-acyltransferase (GOAT) is essential for growth hormone-mediated survival of calorie-restricted mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107: 7467–72.
- [104] Zhu X, Cao Y, Voodg K, Steiner DF. On the processing of proghrelin to ghrelin. J Biol Chem 2006;281:38867–70.
- [105] Zigman JM, Nakano Y, Coppari R, Balthasar N, Marcus JN, Lee CE, et al. Mice lacking ghrelin receptors resist the development of diet-induced obesity. J Clin Invest 2005;115:3564–72.